ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JUSTIN ADAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001018

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 23 2019

SC Court of Appeals

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

In this child sexual abuse case, did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion to preclude the testimony of the minor child, including two out-of-court video recordings of the child's interviews, where the first interview, which was conducted by a police officer, was unreliable, and tainted the second interview, which was conducted four days later by a forensic interviewer?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge criminal intent as an element of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor?

3.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury that it had to be unanimous as to the factual allegations contained in the indictment, which contained a "to wit" provision alleging fellatio and intrusion into the anus, therefore depriving appellant of his right to a unanimous verdict?

4.

Whether the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for a new trial based on the undisputed fact that complainant's mother, who was subject to the court's sequestration order, was caught listening to testimony through the door of the courtroom?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 23, 2014, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted appellant Justin Adams for first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 540. On September 19, 2016, appellant was tried before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and a jury. R. 1. Alexandra M. Joseph and Dustin Whetsel represented the State and James A. Brown, Jr. represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 463, l. 7 – 464, l. 9. Judge Goldsmith sentenced appellant to twenty-five years' imprisonment. R. 476, ll. 16 – 18. On March 30, 2017, Judge Goldsmith held a hearing on appellant's motion for a new trial based upon after-discovered evidence. March 30, 2017, R. 1. Judge Goldsmith denied the motion and entered a written order. R. 539. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As to Issue 1, appellant argues the standard of review should be abuse of discretion, which is used for both the admission of evidence and the competency of a witness. State v. Hudnall, 293 S.C. 97, 99, 359 S.E.2d 59, 61 (1987), overruled on other grounds by State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993). State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000).

As to Issue 2, the issue is one of statutory construction and is therefore reviewed *de novo*. The issue of interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the court. Univ. of S. California v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 275, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005).

As to Issue 3, "In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id.

As to Issue 4, the trial court's ruling on a motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence "will not be disturbed except for an error of law or abuse of discretion." State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011). Where the trial judge's ruling is controlled by an error of law, this Court will reverse. State v. Spann, 334 S.C. 618, 622, 513 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999).

ARGUMENT

1.

In this child sexual abuse case, the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to preclude the testimony of the minor child, including two out-of-court video recordings of the child's interviews, where the first interview, which was conducted by a police officer, was unreliable, and tainted the second interview, which was conducted four days later by a forensic interviewer.

Relevant Factual and Procedural Background

Minor's First Recorded Interview with Officer Babkiewicz

On December 7, 2013, before a forensic interview could be conducted, Officer Joseph Babkiewicz ("Babkiewicz"), who worked for the Bluffton Police Department, took it upon himself to interview the five-year-old male complainant ("Minor") because he "built a bond" with Minor. R. 26, l. 11 – 28, l. 7. R. 36, ll. 9 – 11. The video of the interview shows how Officer Babkiewicz built the bond with Minor at the very beginning of the interview. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz and Minor enter the room and Officer Babkiewicz is holding a toy stuffed dog and has his gun on his hip: (State's Ex. 1). He asks Minor if he likes the dog and if he likes police officers. (State's Ex. 1, on file with this Court). Minor tells Officer Babkiewicz that a police officer had been to his house and he was Minor's "buddy." (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz tells Minor, "I'd like to be your buddy, too." (State's Ex. 1).

Officer Babkiewicz and Minor then talk about their names and birthdays. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz tells Minor they were both born in July and that "all the cool kids were born in July" and they do a fist pound. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then asks Minor if he liked the police officer he met, if he wanted to be like the police officer he met, and if he wanted

to be a police officer. (State's Ex. 1). Minor replies affirmatively to all but the last question, stating that a police officer's job was dangerous. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then pulls out a shiny sticker of a badge and tells Minor it says "Junior Officer, Bluffton Police Department." (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz gives Minor the badge sticker and Minor puts it on the front of his shirt, a "perfect spot" according to Officer Babkiewicz. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz congratulates Minor and tells him, "Welcome to the team!" (State's Ex. 1).

Officer Babkiewicz then tells Minor he wants to point out several things in the interview room. (State's Ex. 1). He points to the camera and asks Minor if he knows what it is. (State's Ex. 1). Minor says it is a camera "that watches bad guys." (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz tells Minor the camera is watching him and he's not a bad guy and the camera watches anybody in the room. (State's Ex. 1). He then says that Minor's mother and "the other guys" are watching on the camera outside the room. (State's Ex. 1). When Minor asks a question about who is watching, Officer Babkiewicz assures Minor they can see and hear everything in the room. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then has Minor wave to his mother through the camera. (State's Ex. 1).

Officer Babkiewicz then asks Minor if he knows what the truth is and Minor responds that it means to tell things that are real. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz says that was correct and adds it means that you do not lie. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then tells Minor, **"This room has magical powers and it helps you tell the truth. . . So you have to tell the truth in this room. . . . Because if you don't you get zapped."** (State's Ex. 1) (emphasis added). The officer then laughs and says he was just joking, and for Minor to "just tell the truth, okay?". (State's Ex. 1). He promises Minor that he will tell the truth no matter what and wants Minor to do the same. (State's Ex. 1).

The police officer and Minor then draw together for several minutes. (State's Ex. 1). After getting Minor to draw a tiger and an eagle, Officer Babkiewicz has Minor draw a picture of himself. (State's Ex. 1). He has Minor point out his arms and legs and then, pointing to the genital area, asks Minor what he calls that part of the body. (State's Ex. 1). Minor replies that he calls it his legs. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz asks Minor what is higher than his legs and Minor says his chest. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then changes the subject. (State's Ex. 1).

The officer asks Minor if he knows why he is here and then tells him it is because he wants to talk to Minor about something he told his mother earlier. (State's Ex. 1). He then asks Minor if he remembers what he told his nana. (State's Ex. 1). Minor replies that Adams "massages my wacker." (State's Ex. 1). He also describes Adams massaging his wacker in the shower. (State's Ex. 1). Minor looks at the camera several times while describing the alleged abuse to Officer Babkiewicz. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz asks Minor if Adams touches him anywhere else and Minor said Adams put a "finger in my butt." (State's Ex. 1).

Officer Babkiewicz asks Minor where and when the assaults took place. (State's Ex. 1). He asks if Minor's mother is home. (State's Ex. 1). He asks if Adams says anything and when Minor says no, Officer Babkiewicz, asks, "Does he say not to tell anybody. . ." and then Minor glances at the camera and replies yes, and that it is a secret. (State's Ex. 1). Minor said Adams had done these things "ten times" and that the last time was "one hundred days ago," says he was kidding, and then the last time was seven days ago. (State's Ex. 1).

Minor asks a question about the drawings and Officer Babkiewicz says he wants to keep Minor's drawings. (State's Ex. 1). He then picks up the stuffed animal and tells Minor he is going to trade him the toy for the drawing. (State's Ex. 1). Minor says no and that he wants the

officer to have both the toy and the drawing. (State's Ex. 1). The officer then tells Minor he has a "whole bag of stuffed animals" and Minor can pick out any one he wants. (State's Ex. 1). Minor says he would like that and Officer Babkiewicz says, "Let's go for a walk. I've got a surprise for you." (State's Ex. 1). They leave the room. (State's Ex. 1).

When they return about four minutes later, Minor has two stuffed animals, both birds. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz tells Minor that anytime he looks at those birds, he should think of the officer because they are "buds forever." (State's Ex. 1). He also reminds Minor that he is a junior police officer and that not many kids "get to do that." (State's Ex. 1). They joke that Minor is the "coolest person in the whole world," and then Officer Babkiewicz asks him who is a person he does not like. (State's Ex. 1). Minor says he sometimes does not like a child friend of his because sometimes he lies. (State's Ex. 1).

The police officer then asks whether Minor likes Adams. (State's Ex. 1). Minor says yes, but there is one thing he does not like and that he already told Officer Babkiewicz about that. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz asks if it hurts when Adams "does that stuff," and Minor says yes. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz replies, "We don't want him to hurt you, ok?" (State's Ex. 1). He asks if Adams has "ever done anything else to you" and Minor says no. (State's Ex. 1). Minor then says there is one other thing he does not like—that when he gets home from school Adams never lets him have a snack. (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz then asks if Adams ever does anything else, "with his wacker." (State's Ex. 1). Minor says no, that "those things are the only things." (State's Ex. 1).

Minor then says Adams puts Minor's wacker in his mouth and tried to put Adams' wacker in Minor's mouth, but Minor does not do that because he thinks it is "nasty." (State's Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz asks if Adams tries to put his wacker in Minor's mouth and Minor

replies, “he just does it.” (State’s Ex. 1). After a few more questions that confirm that Adams has Minor perform oral sex on him, Officer Babkiewicz says, “Let’s make a deal. I promise he won’t ever do that to you again.” (State’s Ex. 1). Officer Babkiewicz says, “And if he tries to . . .” and Minor interrupts and says, “He’s going to go to jail.” (State’s Ex. 1).

Officer Babkiewicz then says Minor can call him and he will give Minor’s mother his phone number. (State’s Ex. 1). He then tells Minor that they are buddies, friends, and are both police officers. (State’s Ex. 1). They name Minor’s new stuffed animals and Officer Babkiewicz tells him they are going to go show the toys to Minor’s mother. (State’s Ex. 1). They leave the room and the recorded interview ends. (State’s Ex. 1).

Minor’s Second Recorded Interview with a Forensic Interviewer

Four days after the interview with Officer Babkiewicz, on December 11, 2013, Minor went to Hope Haven for another recorded session with forensic interviewer Mary Beth Hefner (“Hefner”). R. 51, l. 22 – 52, l. 2. R. 57, l. 24 – 58, l. 1. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner attended a forty hour training in Columbia “to be certified in the art of forensic interviewing.” R. 52, ll. 9 – 18.

When Minor enters the room, his shiny Junior Bluffton Police Officer Badge is affixed prominently on his chest. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner draws a picture while making small talk with Minor about skateboarding and Christmas. (State’s Ex. 2). When Hefner points out the camera, Minor says the security guards are watching and can come out and get the bad guys. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner tells Minor they are making a recording of their talk and emphasizes that Minor’s mother and grandmother are **not** watching. (State’s Ex. 2). She says the only people watching are some “friends of mine” to make sure the equipment worked and that Hefner asked all the right questions. (State’s Ex. 2).

Hefner then tells Minor that the “only thing” she asks of him is to talk about “things that are real.” (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner asks Minor who lives in his house and he first names Adams. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner asks who Adams is and Minor says, “He’s the one that’s been doing the bad stuff to me.” (State’s Ex. 2). Minor tells Hefner that Adams is “in jail now.” (State’s Ex. 2).

When Hefner asks Minor what bad things Adams has done, Minor first says Adams has been hugging him where he is not supposed to hug him. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner asks Minor how he knows Adams is in jail and he replies that his mother told him the cops came and got Adams and put him in jail. (State’s Ex. 2). While identifying body parts on a drawing, Minor tells Hefner that Adams was touching his wacker. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor says Adams massaged his wacker with his hand while they were in the shower. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner asks Minor where he heard the word “massaging” and Minor says “nowhere” and after further questioning says no one told him that word. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor also relates that Adams put his finger in Minor’s butt and that it hurt. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor then indicated that Adams made him perform oral sex on Adams and vice versa. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor says Adams told him to keep it a secret. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor says that the abuse also occurred in Adams’ room while his mother was cleaning in the kitchen. (State’s Ex. 2).

Hefner asks Minor who he told and Minor says his mother, his grandmother and the police. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor said he had to tell the police otherwise Adams would not go to jail. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner leaves the room and when she returns, she asks more questions about Minor’s home life. (State’s Ex. 2). Minor says Adams never let him do what he wants or play the video games he wants, but makes him play Adams’ video games. (State’s Ex. 2). Hefner also asks Minor if he ever saw anything come out of Adams’ penis and Minor says “pee,”

that it was yellow, and went down the drain. (State's Ex. 2). Hefner then thanks Minor for coming to the interview and tells him, "You did a good job today." (State's Ex. 2). Minor then denied that anyone had told him what to say. (State's Ex. 2).

The Pretrial Hearing on the Admissibility of the Recorded Interviews

Before trial, appellant filed a motion to preclude "testimony from a minor child due to a taint produced by improper interview techniques." R. 488. Appellant cited State v. Michaels, 642 A.2d 1372 (N.J. 1994). Judge Goldsmith held an extensive hearing on the admissibility of the videos, taking testimony from both Officer Babkiewicz and Hefner. R. 23, l. 12 – 111, l. 25.

On direct-examination, Officer Babkiewicz admitted he had "[v]ery minimal discussion as it relates to interviewing children" in his prior training. R. 27, ll. 20 – 23. On cross-examination, he admitted he **had no training** in the forensic interviewing of child victims. R. 30, ll. 17 – 19. He did not remember telling Minor the interview room had magic powers or that Minor would get zapped. R. 35, ll. 6 – 13. Officer Babkiewicz knew a forensic interview would be conducted, but had no concerns at the time that his interview of Minor would taint any later interviews because Minor's claims were "consistent with what he had already told his mother." R. 69, ll. 12 – 24. He was unaware of a statute that law enforcement agencies and child welfare services should coordinate their efforts to minimize the number of interviews of a child. R. 42, ll. 2 – 11. See S.C. Code § 63-7-920(C).

Hefner testified next at the hearing. R. 51, ll. 1 – 13. Her cross-examination illuminated the numerous problems with Officer Babkiewicz' interview of Minor. R. 58, l. 9 – 77, l. 10. When she interviewed Minor, she was aware that Minor had met with Officer Babkiewicz, but did not "know the extent of the interview or the interaction." R. 76, l. 15 – 77, l. 17. When she

testified at the hearing, Hefner had not seen the recording of the Babkiewicz interview. R. 76, ll. 15 – 19.

Hefner agreed that children “should not have multiple interviews so that the child’s memory is not tainted or affected.” R. 59, l. 15 – 60, l. 3. After replying that she did not remember seeing the large junior officer sticker on Minor during her interview, she said she could not comment on whether a police officer should make a child a junior officer. R. 62, l. 7 – 63, l. 17. She then agreed that it would be improper to make a child interviewee “an honorary member of Hope Haven” because they are trained not to give children promises or rewards. R. 63, l. 18 – 64, l. 7. Hefner further testified:

Q. No rewards to a child during an interview; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. How about vilifying the suspect of the investigation?

A. That is not recommended in a forensic interview.

Q. Okay. How about telling the interviewee that the subject of the investigation is going to be incarcerated or has been incarcerated?

A. Again, as forensic interviewers we are strongly advised not to discuss that kind of information.

Q. Okay. And how about telling them that if they don’t tell the truth in that room that will be zapped?

A. That is strongly—

Q. I’m sorry?

A. That is strongly ill advised to tell a child that they will be zapped. . . . What does zapped mean? I’m not sure what that means.

A. I don’t know either, but you would ill advise that?

Q. That sounds like a threat.

R. 64, ll. 5 – 25.

Hefner further agreed that the interviewer should not tell a child they are his friend or buddy. R. 65, ll. 12 – 17. She said it was important to ensure children know that parents are not observing the interview because it could either taint the interview or cause children not to disclose something embarrassing. R. 71, l. 15 – 72, l. 13. When asked how a forensic interviewer could correct a taint from a prior interview, Hefner said, “I’m not sure how you would do that. I guess it depends on the context of the situation. How one feels it was tainted or—I mean there are a lot of factors that contribute to that. I mean it’s not just one answer.” R. 76, ll. 4 – 14.

After Hefner’s testimony, the trial court heard extensive argument from the parties on whether Minor’s testimony, including the recorded interviews, was admissible because Officer Babkiewicz’ interview tainted all following interviews of Minor. R. 79, l. 19 – 111, l. 12. Relying on the Michaels case, appellant argued that Minor’s testimony could not be presented because it was rendered unreliable by the suggestive interview procedures. R. 81, l. 4 – 83, l. 25. Appellant pointed out the suggestive tactics used by Officer Babkiewicz and Hefner’s agreement that his tactics were improper. R. 83, l. 4 – 87, l. 20. Appellant also argued that the recordings were hearsay, and as such a general rule applied keeping out hearsay to the extent the Legislature enacted S. C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175 as an exception. R. 89, ll. 10 – 19. The State argued that the videos were both admissible under section 17-23-175 and that the question of taint was one for the jury. R. 95, l. 13 – 100, l. 23. The trial judge ruled the testimony was admissible, stating he agreed with the State’s position, that Michaels was not controlling, and that he saw no bias in either interview. R. 109, l. 18 – 111, l. 12.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's motion because the suggestive and biased interview by Officer Babkiewicz tainted all of the young child's testimony. Citing the Michaels case, this Court has observed that the techniques used by forensic interviewers were devised in response to concerns about children's testimony being tainted by suggestive police interviews. State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 522-23, 626 S.E.2d 59, 72 (Ct. App. 2006) aff'd in part, rev'd in part 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009). As was amply demonstrated by Hefner's testimony, Officer Babkiewicz' interview violated established practices for interviewing children. The following interviews and testimony by Minor were rendered unreliable and tainted by this suggestive interview.

In Michaels, the court framed the issue as whether "the interview techniques used by the State in this case were so coercive or suggestive that they had a capacity to distort substantially the children's recollections of actual events and thus compromise the reliability of the children's statements and testimony based on their recollections." Michaels, 642 A.2d at 1377. The court listed several factors to consider, stating that, "The explicit vilification or criticism of the person charged with wrongdoing is another factor that can induce a child to believe abuse has occurred." Id. "Similarly, an interviewer's bias with respect to a suspected person's guilt or innocence can have a marked effect on the accuracy of a child's statements." Id. "The transmission of suggestion can also be subtly communicated to children through more obvious factors such as the interviewer's tone of voice, mild threats, praise, cajoling, bribes and rewards, as well as resort to peer pressure." Id. The court noted that the improper influence of their own techniques was recognized by law enforcement and led to their developing standards for interviewing young children. Id. at 1378.

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