ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001018

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JUSTIN ADAMS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 17 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

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

(R. pp. 456).

At the conclusion of the jury charge, defense counsel renewed his objection to the trial judge's failure to present an instruction on criminal intent. (R. pp. 457-458). However, once again, the trial judge overruled the objection. (R. p. 458). Thereafter, the jurors began their deliberations and ultimately convicted Appellant as indicted. (R. p. 459; p. 464).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, an appellate court reviewing a trial judge's jury charge must view the charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). Significantly, the appellate court will only reverse a trial judge's decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constituted a prejudicial abuse of discretion. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) ("An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion."); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) ("[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial."). Meanwhile, if the jury instructions presented were substantially correct and covered the applicable law, the trial judge's decision will not be reversed on appeal. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.").

ANALYSIS

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). To carry out that purpose, a trial judge is required to charge the jury on the current and correct South Carolina law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003); see State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge is required to instruct the jury on sound principles of law that are applicable to the case based on the evidence presented). In doing so, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does *not* have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). Importantly, so

long as the trial judge's jury instructions are substantially correct and adequately cover the applicable law, those instructions are considered to be appropriate and not erroneous. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.").

Looking to the offense for which Appellant was indicted in the case at bar, an individual is guilty of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor when the individual engages in a sexual battery with a victim under the age of eleven. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1) (establishing an individual is guilty of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor if "the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age"). For purposes of that offense, a "sexual battery" is statutorily defined to mean "sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body, *except when such intrusion is accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes.*" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, based on the commonly-understood meaning of the words used by the legislature in defining the offense, a person must involve oneself or take part in a sexual battery in order to be convicted of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, which suggests an intentional act and means a person cannot be convicted of the offense for unintentional, accidental, or mistaken conduct. See BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 608 (9th ed. 2009) (defining "engage" as "[t]o employ or involve oneself; to take part in; to embark on"); NEW OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY 574 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining "engage" when referring to engaging in some act as "participate or become involved in"); see also NEW OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY

1277 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “participate” as “take part”); cf. Carter v. United States, 530 U.S. 255, 269 (2000) (“The presumption in favor of scienter requires a court to read into a statute only that mens rea which is necessary to separate wrongful conduct from ‘otherwise innocent conduct.’ ” (citation omitted)). However, based on the absence of language indicating the participation or taking part must be knowing, a person’s knowledge of the minor victim’s actual age is irrelevant. See State v. Kirkland, 282 S.C. 14, 16, 317 S.E.2d 444, 444-445 (1984) (recognizing a statute prohibiting sexual intercourse with any person confined to a mental institution necessitated proof only of “there mere commission of the act of intercourse itself” due to the absence of statutory language requiring something more, such as knowledge); Guinyard v. State, 260 S.C. 220, 228, 195 S.E.2d 392, 395-396 (1973) (“The action of the Legislature in failing to make knowledge of the institutional status of the person molested an element of the present offense is in harmony with the rule adopted by practically all of the courts that, under a charge of statutory rape, the honest belief of the accused that the complainant was of the age of consent when in fact she was not constitutes no defense.”); see also McLeod v. Starnes, 396 S.C. 647, 660, 723 S.E.2d 198, 205 (2012) (“The Legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court’s interpretation of its statutes.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)). Likewise, based on the legislature’s express inclusion of an exception in the definition of sexual battery, a person’s reason, motive, or purpose for engaging in a penetrative sexual battery is entirely irrelevant *unless* it was accomplished for a limited purpose falling within the exception, which excludes only medically-recognized acts.¹¹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h) (excluding *only* “intrusion

¹¹ Significantly, based on the language employed in the related subsection defining third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, the legislature clearly demonstrated it understood what language to employ when it intended to include a higher level of criminal intent or a more specific level of criminal intent as an element of a sexual offense involving a juvenile victim. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(C) (“A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor

. . . accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes” from the definition of “sexual battery”); see also Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“The canon of construction ‘expressio unius est exclusio alterius’ or ‘inclusio unius est exclusio alterius’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’ ”); State v. White, 338 S.C. 56, 58, 525 S.E.2d 261, 263 (Ct. App. 1999) (“We, of course, must take the statute as we find it, giving effect to the legislative intent as expressed in its language. We cannot under our power of construction supply an omission in the statute.”).

In instructing the jury on the elements of the indicted offense in Appellant’s case, the trial judge presented the jury with the express language of the first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor statute along with the applicable statutory definition of “sexual battery.” By instructing the jury on the express language of the statutory provision outlining the indicted offense, the trial judge ensured the jury would not and could not convict Appellant without expressly finding he personally engaged, participated, or took part in the sexual battery, which meant the jury could only convict Appellant if it found his act was an intentional one. See United States v. Lewis, 780 F.2d 1140, 1142-1143 (4th Cir. 1986) (“In the absence of an explicit statement that a crime requires specific intent, courts often hold that only general intent is needed.”); see also BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 883 (9th ed. 2009) (defining “intentional” as “[d]one with the aim of carrying out the act”); cf. Carter, 530 U.S. at 269 (“In this case, . . . a general intent requirement suffices to separate wrongful from ‘otherwise innocent’ conduct.

in the third degree if the actor is over fourteen years of age and the actor *wilfully and lewdly* commits or attempts to commit a lewd and lascivious act upon or with the body, or its parts, of a child under sixteen years of age, *with the intent of* arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of the actor or the child.” (emphasis added)); cf. Nelson v. Ozmint, 390 S.C. 432, 436, 702 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2010) (finding the legislature’s inclusion of language allowing for early release in one statute but omitting it in another evidenced the legislature intent for a defendant convicted of the offense delineated in the statute not containing the early release language to be ineligible for it).

Section 2113(a) certainly should not be interpreted to apply to the hypothetical person who engages in forceful taking of money while sleepwalking (innocent, if aberrant activity), but this result is accomplished simply by requiring . . . general intent—*i.e.*, proof of knowledge with respect to the actus reus of the crime.”). Likewise, by instructing the jury on “sexual battery,” the trial judge ensured the jury understood Appellant—assuming he was found to have engaged in a sexual battery—could only be convicted if the battery he committed did *not* involve penetration accomplished for medically-recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes, which must logically include whatever penetration might be necessary to ensure cleanliness and good hygiene for a child in need of assistance with such things.¹² See State v. Jeffries, 316 S.C. 13, 17, 446 S.E.2d 427, 430 (1994) (“[T]he legislature may declare an act criminal regardless of the mental state of the actor.”); see also NEW OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY 855 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “hygiene” as “conditions or practices conducive to maintaining health and *preventing disease*, esp. through cleanliness” (emphasis added)); NEW OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY 1087 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “medicine” as “the science or practice of the diagnosis, treatment, and *prevention of disease*” (emphasis added)).

¹² Notably, the only type of penetrative act that would *not* constitute a sexual battery for purposes of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor necessarily must be an act accomplished for purposes of medically-recognized treatment or diagnosis. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h) (excluding only “intrusion . . . accomplished for medically recognized treatment or diagnostic purposes” from the definition of “sexual battery”). Otherwise, the exception would be rendered entirely meaningless as a penetrative act accomplished for purposes of medically-recognized treatment or diagnosis is inherently not accomplished with criminal intent and, thus, would already be excluded from constituting a sexual battery without the need for an express exception if some criminal purpose or intent beyond the general intent to commit the act itself was necessary for it to qualify as a sexual battery. See In re Decker, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995) (instructing “[a] statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous” (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

Because the trial judge's jury instructions as presented identified all the necessary elements of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor—including the requisite level of intent—and explained the circumstances under which an act of penetration upon a minor victim would not constitute a sexual battery under the law, those jury instructions taken together as a whole correctly instructed the jury on the relevant and applicable South Carolina law necessary for the jurors to be able to resolve the issues raised by the evidence in Appellant's case. See Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472-473 (2004) ("A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole."); see also Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 263, 565 S.E.2d at 304 ("Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues."). Under such circumstances, the trial judge's jury instructions were legally sufficient and proper, and defense counsel's requested general jury instruction on criminal intent was unnecessary to ensure the jurors were capable of properly evaluating the evidence and arriving at a correct verdict. See State v. Ryè, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) ("A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied."); see also State v. Holmes, 277 S.C. 232, 234, 285 S.E.2d 353, 354 (1981) (recognizing a trial judge does not have to use any particular language when instructing the jury on the law so long as the instructions given adequately cover the relevant and applicable law); Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 224, 584 S.E.2d 423, 427 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A circuit court's refusal to give a properly requested charge is reversible error only where the requesting party can demonstrate prejudice from the refusal."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

III.

The trial judge committed no error by declining to include a special jury charge on unanimity as part of his jury instructions because his instructions as presented contained a proper unanimity charge and were sufficient to ensure the jurors would not reach a verdict in Appellant's case unless all twelve of them were in agreement, which rendered any further instructions on unanimity entirely unnecessary under the circumstances.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by purportedly failing to instruct the jurors they had to be unanimous in regard to the factual allegations contained within the indictment in order to reach a verdict. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the indictment was duplicitous because it contained a "to wit" provision that identified two different types of sexual battery and, therefore, "charged two factual counts."¹³ Based on the duplicitous nature of the indictment, Appellant alleges he was deprived of his right to a unanimous verdict in

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